I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred when it denied Antero's Motion for Summary Judgment and granted Respondents' Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment because the Tax Commissioner's "weighting methodology" applies the same improper "sliding scale" or "pro rata" percentage-based valuation of monetary average operating expenses this Court rejected in Syllabus Point 12, Steager v. Consol Energy, Inc., 242 W. Va. 209, 832 S.E.2d 135 (2019), which instead requires the Tax Commissioner to apply a singular monetary average (i.e., not a percentage) in valuing operating expenses for natural gas wells in tax year 2016.
- 2. The Tax Department's June 2020 Guidance clarifying the availability of *ad valorem* tax deductions for postproduction expenses under existing law must be applied retroactively to pending disputed tax years under settled administrative law, thus warranting reversal.
- 3. The Tax Department's refusal—without explanation—to apply the June 2020 Guidance retroactively to pending disputed tax years is arbitrary and capricious under the West Virginia State Administrative Procedures Act and violates due process, thus warranting reversal.
- 4. The Tax Department's *ad valorem* tax regime—which bars deductions for postproduction expenses—undervalues the wells of in-state natural gas sellers while overvaluing the comparable wells of out-of-state sellers and therefore violates state and federal equal protection principles, thus warranting reversal.
- 5. The Tax Department's *ad valorem* tax regime—which bars deductions for postproduction expenses—benefits in-state natural gas sellers at the expense of out-of-state sellers and therefore violates dormant Commerce Clause principles, thus warranting reversal.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. INTRODUCTION

This matter comes before the Court for the second time following a successful appeal by Antero Resources Corporation ("Antero") as part of consolidated proceedings in *Steager v. Consol Energy, Inc.*, Case No. 18-0125 (the "Prior Appeal"). Antero and the Respondents herein, the County Commission of Doddridge County sitting as a Board of Assessment Appeals (the "BAA"), the Honorable David Sponaugle, Assessor of Doddridge County, and the Honorable Dale W. Steager, State Tax Commissioner (the "Tax Commissioner" or "Tax Department"), were parties to the Prior Appeal, which resulted in a decision reported in *Steager v. Consol Energy, Inc.*, 242 W. Va. 209, 832 S.E.2d 135 (2019) (hereinafter "*Steager v. Consol Energy*").

In Steager v. Consol Energy, this Court affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded for further proceedings consistent with this Court's opinion following a decision by the Circuit Court of Doddridge County in the Business Court Division. This Court held that the legislative rule for calculating operating expense deductions from producing oil and natural gas wells property tax assessments, W. Va. Code St. R. §§ 110-1J-1, et seq., "requires the use of a singular monetary average [operating expense] deduction" in valuing producing oil and natural gas wells.¹

This Court concluded that "the business court's relief erroneously required use of a percentage, rather than a monetary average operating expense deduction and reversed to that extent. However, 'this Court does not have the authority to fix the assessment of [Antero's] property [Rather,] the trial court is invested by statute with such authority and the case

¹ Syl. Pt. 12, *id*.

[should] be remanded for that purpose.' In re Tax Assessments Against Pocahontas Land Corp., 158 W. Va. 229, 240, 210 S.E.2d 641, 649 (1974); see also Matter of U.S. Steel Corp., 165 W. Va. 373, 379, 268 S.E.2d 128, 132 (1980) ("This Court does not have the authority to fix assessments because such authority is vested by statute in the circuit courts."). Consequently, we remand to the business court for entry of an order consistent with this opinion." Id. at 225, 832 S.E.2d at 151.

Upon remand, Antero provided a list of wells for tax year 2016 ("TY2016") to facilitate a re-valuation by the Tax Commissioner consistent with this Court's opinion to the Circuit Court to fix the assessment.²

The Tax Department's "re-valuation" of the wells for TY2016, however, resulted in no change to the \$812,541,283 appraised value originally calculated by the Tax Department.³ Despite this Court's direction not to apply a "percentage, rather than a monetary average operating expense deduction," *id.*, the Tax Commissioner applied a "weighting methodology" to value Antero's horizontal Marcellus Shale wells that produced both oil and natural gas for TY2016.⁴ This methodology results in varying monetary averages of operating expenses for such wells based on the amount of oil produced by the well. Antero, on the other hand, valued operating expenses using a singular monetary average of \$150,000 for produced natural gas and a singular monetary average of \$5,750 for produced oil, as required by the Supreme Court in *Steager v. Consol Energy*.⁵

² A.R. 2196.

³ A.R. 2197.

⁴ A.R. 2220, 2042.

⁵ A.R. 2199.

Following re-valuation, the Petitioner and Respondents filed cross-motions for summary judgment. The Circuit Court granted summary judgment in favor of the Respondents and denied the Petitioner's motion based on the conclusion that the Tax Department's re-valuation was "fair" and "reasonable" and a proper application of this Court's decision in *Steager v. Consol Energy*. Petitioner disagrees.

What is more, even though West Virginia constitutional and statutory law require taxation to be equal and uniform and in proportion to the property's value, Respondents have persisted—without ever offering an explanation—in permitting natural gas well owners such as Antero to deduct only a standardized sum purportedly representing the "average annual industry operating expenses per well." As Antero argued in Steager v. Consol Energy, this "average" does not accurately account for postproduction expenses—i.e., expenses that a well owner necessarily must incur to get its product to the point of sale, including expenses for gathering, compressing, processing, and transporting gas to the market. And because producers that sell their gas primarily out of state, such as Antero, incur higher, non-deductible postproduction expenses than producers that sell their gas primarily within West Virginia, out of state sellers are taxed at higher rates—solely because they sell their gas across state lines. This is unconstitutional. Indeed, Respondents' approach undervalues the wells of in-state natural gas sellers while overvaluing the comparable wells of out-of-state sellers, in violation of state and federal equal protection principles. And Respondents have conceded that the tax regime's purpose is to discriminate against interstate

⁶ W. Va. Const. art. X, § 1; W. Va. Code §§ 11-6K-1(a), 11-6k-2(5).

⁷ W. Va. Code St. R. § 110-1J-4.3; *see also, e.g.*, A.R. 2057–58, Tax Dep't, Admin. Notice 2020-08 (Jan. 30, 2020), https://tinyurl.com/y7dbda73 (setting tax year 2020's "average annual industry operating expenses per well").

commerce in favor of local interests, as the Tax Department has repeatedly stated during public hearings that Antero should simply "sell [its] gas at the wellhead" in West Virginia if it wants to "pay less taxes" than it must pay by selling its product in other states.⁸ This violates dormant Commerce Clause principles. Reversal is required on these constitutional grounds as well.

Moreover, just 15 days after the Circuit Court's orders on appeal here, the Tax Commissioner issued new guidance, dated June 30, 2020, clarifying that West Virginia law *allows* deductions for actual postproduction expenses after all. The basis for the change was that the previous disallowance "overvalued" gas wells for tax purposes, exactly as Antero has argued in this lawsuit for years. Respondents, however, have refused to apply this clarification of the law to prior tax years without explanation. This violates the West Virginia State Administrative Procedures Act ("State APA") and fundamental due process principles and thus requires reversal on its own. Indeed, the June 2020 Guidance is an "interpretive rule" under the State APA that merely clarifies existing law, and rules that merely clarify existing law apply to pending disputes—such as Antero's pending tax disputes here—and avoid any presumption against retroactivity. As such, Respondents must apply the June 2020 Guidance to Antero's pending tax disputes, and their

⁸ Tr. of Oct. 10, 2019 Hrg. Before Harrison Cty. Comm'n at 33; Tr. of Oct. 7, 2019 Hrg. Before Tyler Cty. Bd. of Assessment Appeals at 27; Tr. of Oct. 8, 2019 Hrg. Before Doddridge Cty. Comm'n at 29., attached as Exhibits 7–9 to Petitioner's Rule 7(g) Motion for Leave to File Additional Documents with Appendix or Supplemental Appendix.

⁹ Exhibit 3 to Petitioner's Rule 7(g) Motion for Leave to File Additional Documents with Appendix or Supplemental Appendix.

¹⁰ A.R. 1964–2011, 2037, 2038–62, 2093–99.

failure to explain why they have refused to do so is arbitrary and capricious under the State APA and runs afoul of basic due process protections.¹¹

For all these reasons, the Court should reverse.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Antero owns and operates numerous Marcellus Shale horizontal wells which are oil and natural gas producing properties subject to annual *ad valorem* taxation by the Assessor of

It is bedrock administrative law that "an agency changing its course by rescinding a rule is obligated to supply a reasoned analysis for the change." *Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n of U.S., Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 463 U.S. 29, 42 (1983). "About-faces must be reasoned," otherwise they are arbitrary, capricious, and invalid. *Osei v. INS*, 305 F.3d 1205, 1210 (10th Cir, 2002).

The October 2020 Withdrawal violates these principles, as the Tax Commissioner "failed to give any persuasive justification for the abrupt change in the Agency's position." Ramirez v. U.S. Customs & Border Prot., 477 F. Supp. 2d 150, 157 (D.D.C. 2007). First, the Tax Commissioner is wrong that the June 2020 Guidance effected a "substantive change" in the law that could be accomplished only through a "legislative rule." (Oct. 2020 Guidance at 1.) The June 2020 Guidance—on its face and in its effects merely clarified existing law, thus rendering it a valid "interpretive rule" under the State APA. See, e.g., Appalachian Power Co. v. Tax Dep't, 466 S.E.2d 424, 434 (W. Va. 1995). And the Tax Commissioner is also wrong that this Court's decision in Steager v. Consol Energy created a "precedent" that these deductions are barred and which the June 2020 Guidance therefore violates. (Oct. 2020 Guidance at 2.) Rather, this Court merely found the Tax Commissioner's interpretations reasonable—it did not in any way bar other interpretations, such as the interpretation set out in the June 2020 Guidance. Steager v. Consol Energy thus has no bearing on the June 2020 Guidance's validity, despite the Tax Commissioner's attempts to hide behind it. The Tax Commissioner's justifications for the October 2020 Withdrawal are legally invalid; the retaliatory October 2020 Withdrawal is arbitrary and capricious and thus void; and the June 2020 Guidance remains in effect and must be applied retroactively. Because the June 2020 Guidance and October 2020 Withdrawal present significant issues on appeal, Antero respectfully requests that this Court order supplemental briefing.

¹¹ On October 9, 2020, the Tax Commissioner issued still another new guidance purporting to "withdraw[]" its June 2020 Guidance upon which Antero's Rule 60(b) and preliminary injunction motions before the Circuit Court are based and asserting that "continued denial of these deductions [for postproduction expenses] does not over-value the oil and gas wells in this State" (the "October 2020 Withdrawal"). Exhibit 2, Petitioner's Rule 7(g) Motion for Leave to File Additional Documents with Appendix or Supplemental Appendix at 2. This is yet another about-face from prior agency policy, and during pending litigation no less. The October 2020 Guidance is retaliatory and invalid, and Antero has filed before the Circuit Court a motion for supplemental briefing and for a hearing to demonstrate why that is so. Antero has also filed a motion to supplement the record in this appeal with both new guidance documents, and as explained *infra* at note 50, the Court can judicially notice these documents in any event.

Doddridge County, based on valuations by the Tax Commissioner, and subject to appeal to the Doddridge County Commission sitting as the Board of Assessment Appeals.

By legislative rule, the Tax Commissioner fixes the property tax value for oil and natural gas producing properties by applying "a yield capitalization model to the net receipts (gross receipts less royalties paid less operating expenses) for the working interest and yield capitalization model applied to the gross royalty payments for the royalty interest." Operating expenses are determined by "the average annual industry operating expenses per well. The average annual industry operating expenses shall be deducted from working interest gross receipts to develop an income stream for application of a yield capitalization procedure." 13

As Antero argued in *Consol Energy*, however, this "average" does not accurately account for postproduction expenses—i.e., expenses that a well owner necessarily must incur to get its product to the point of sale, including expenses for gathering, compressing, processing, and transporting gas to the market. And because producers that sell their gas primarily out of state, such as Antero, incur higher, non-deductible postproduction expenses than producers that sell their gas primarily within West Virginia, out of state sellers are taxed at higher rates—solely because they sell their gas across state lines. ¹⁴ Respondents' "average," moreover, dramatically undercounts Antero's actual postproduction expenses while over-counting the much-smaller

¹² W. Va. Code St. R. § 110-1J-4.1 (2005).

¹³ *Id.* § 110-1J-4.3.

¹⁴ For example, in tax year 2019, Respondents' ad valorem taxation methodology resulted in an average assessed value per well for Antero's wells that was \$1,401,455 higher than a local competitor's average assessed value per well, solely because Antero incurred higher postproduction expenses to get its gas to out-of-state markets.

operating expenses of in-state sellers, thus giving in-state sellers a tax windfall and competitive advantage at Antero's expense, even though their property is comparable.¹⁵

Originally, the Tax Department valued Antero's producing Marcellus Shale oil and gas wells at \$812,541,283 for TY2016 by application of its annual published Administrative Notice 2016-08, which provided that the "[d]irect ordinary operating expenses will be estimated to be 30% of the gross receipts derived from gas production, not to exceed \$5,000." On appeal to the BAA, the Tax Department argued that its valuation was correct under the applicable law and legislative rules. The BAA adopted the Tax Department's valuation.

Antero appealed the valuation for TY2016 to the Circuit Court of Doddridge County, and the case was referred to Business Court Division. Antero argued that Administrative Notice 2016-08, and thus the Tax Commissioner's assessment, violated the legislative rule by applying a sliding scale or pro rata operating expense deduction with a cap. Following the Circuit Court's decision in favor of Antero, the Respondents appealed to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, which was considered as part of consolidated proceedings in the Prior Appeal.

This Court issued an opinion affirming in part, reversing in part, and remanding. In Syllabus Point 8, this Court held,

West Virginia Code of State Rules § 110-1J-4.3 (2005) does not permit the imposition of a "not to exceed" limitation on the operating expense deduction authorized thereunder and use of such limitation along with a percentage deduction violates the "equal and uniform" requirement of West Virginia Constitution Article X,

¹⁵ Indeed, under Respondents' "average" framework, Antero has only been permitted to deduct from 9% to 15% of its actual operating expenses dating back to tax year 2017.

¹⁶ A.R. 2051, 2196.

Section 1, as well as the equal protection provisions of the West Virginia and United States Constitutions.¹⁷

Thus, the Court affirmed the Circuit Court's opinion insofar as it required a re-valuation without applying a "cap" or maximum deduction. 18

This Court reversed in part, however, insofar as the relief directed by the Circuit Court authorized the Tax Commissioner to apply a percentage-based deduction for operating expenses, rather a monetary average operating expense deduction, holding,

The provisions contained in West Virginia Code of State Rules §§ 110-1J-4.1 and 110-1J-4.3 (2005) for a deduction of the average annual industry operating expense requires the use of a singular monetary average deduction.¹⁹

Thus, the Court reversed with instructions to the Circuit Court to fix the TY2016 assessment without applying a cap or maximum deduction, or a percentage or sliding scale.²⁰

Antero now argues that the Tax Commissioner's re-valuation, following *Steager v. Consol Energy*, again violates West Virginia Code of State Rules § 110-1J-4.3 (2005) and Syllabus Point 12 by applying a percentage deduction. Pursuant to this Court's instructions on remand, Antero provided a list of wells for TY2016 that are subject to re-valuation by the Tax Commissioner. Antero's calculation of the values of the wells reduced the value from \$812,541,283 to \$808,176,064.²¹ The Tax Department's "re-valuation" of the wells for TY2016 resulted in no

¹⁷ Syl. Pt. 8, Steager v. Consol Energy, supra.

¹⁸ *Id.* at 225, 832 S.E.2d at 151.

¹⁹ Syl. Pt. 12, *id*.

²⁰ *Id.* at 225, 832 S.E.2d at 151.

²¹ A.R. 2196.

change to the \$812,541,283 appraised value originally calculated by the Tax Department based on the application of a "weighting methodology."²²

Antero and Respondents filed cross-motions for summary judgment.²³ The Circuit Court concluded that, despite this Court's requirement to apply a "singular monetary average," the Tax Commissioner's "weighting methodology" nevertheless "supports a utilization of the average annual industry expense, as it relates to the special circumstance where a well produces both oil and gas."²⁴

The Circuit Court distinguished *Steager v. Consol Energy*, concluding that Syllabus Point 8 does not apply. While acknowledging that this Court rejected the application of a "sliding scale" or "pro rata" operating expense deduction, the Circuit Court concluded that this Court's opinion was not intended to address wells that produce both oil and gas, and that the Tax Department's application of operating expenses was "fair" and "reasonable."²⁵

The Circuit Court denied Antero's Motion for Summary Judgment and granted the cross-Motion for Summary Judgment filed by the Tax Commissioner and the Assessor of Doddridge County, and a second cross-Motion for Summary Judgment filed by the County Commission of Doddridge County.²⁶

On June 30, 2020—just 15 days after the Circuit Court's orders—the Tax Commissioner issued the June 2020 Guidance clarifying that West Virginia regulations allow deductions for

²² A.R. 2197.

²³ A.R. 2037–62, 2063–74, 2075–92.

²⁴ A.R. 2202.

²⁵ A.R. 2201-02.

²⁶ A.R. 2203.

actual postproduction expenses.²⁷ There, the Tax Commissioner explained that the basis for the change was that the previous disallowance "overvalued" gas wells for tax purposes—the very argument that Antero has asserted in this lawsuit for years.²⁸ This clarification is inconsistent with Respondents' position over the past five years, during which they have defended the tax, with no deduction for actual postproduction expenses, in litigation against Antero.

Despite conceding that disallowing deductions for actual postproduction expenses "overvalued" gas wells contrary to the express statutory directive requiring a tax based on "true and actual value," Respondents have nonetheless dictated—without explanation—that they will continue to disallow such deductions at least until tax year 2021. Respondents have thus refused to apply their clarification of the law to prior tax years, which is especially problematic for the 2020 tax year, as Respondents have just last month issued their tax bills to Antero for this year. Respondents therefore had ample opportunity to apply the clarified tax system in the June 2020 Guidance to Antero's 2020 tax year—yet they have refused.

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