FILE COPY

IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPE NO. 20-0530

ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION

Plaintiff below, Petitioner

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

v.

MATTHEW R. IRBY, ACTING WEST VIRGINIA STATE TAX COMMISSIONER, AND DAVID SPONAUGLE, ASSESSOR OF DODDRIDGE COUNTY, THE COUNTY COMMISSION OF DODDRIDGE COUNTY,

Respondents below, Respondents.

BRIEF OF THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE TAX COMMISSIONER

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE A. SCHULTZ (WVSB #3302)
SENIOR DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL
L. WAYNE WILLIAMS (WVSB# 4370)
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
SEAN M. WHELAN (WVSB # 12067)
ASSISTANT ATTORNEYS GENERAL
Office of the Attorney General
1900 Kanawha Boulevard, East
Building 1, Room W-435

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

17. According to Antero, the legislative rule applies to "[o]il and/or natural gas producing property." Petr's Br. at 18 (emphasis in original) (quoting W. Va. Code R. § 110-1J-4.1). But this misses the point. Of course, the legislative rule provides a methodology for calculating the value of either oil wells, gas wells, or oil and gas producing wells. W. Va. Code R. § 110-1J-4.1. And the average industry operating expense deduction is a component of the valuation of each type of well. Id. § 110-1J-4.3. What the Business Court correctly recognized is that Consol Energy only addressed the methodology and deduction for gas wells. See, e.g., Consol Energy, 242 W. Va. at 214, 19 & n.14, 832 S.E.2d at 141, 145 & n.14. Likewise, the "percentage" deduction that this Court found "erroneous[]" was the 20% gas well deduction originally utilized by the Business Court. Id. at 225, 832 S.E.2d at 151 (reversing Business Court Order that requiring use of 20% deduction, AR 68). Nowhere in the opinion does this Court address the operating expense deduction applicable to wells that produce both oil and gas. So, when the Business Court applied the mandate, it appropriately took "into account" "the circumstance" Consol Energy "embraced," Syl. Pt. 3, Frazier & Oxley, 214 W. Va. at 805, 591 S.E.2d at 731, and it understood Consol Energy to prohibit the 20% gas well deduction and not the prorated deduction applicable to oil and gas producing wells. AR 2201-02. Consol Energy simply did not address or prohibit this prorated deduction for oil and gas producing wells.

c. Antero's belated objection to the deduction for oil and gas wells is precluded by the mandate, waived, and without merit.

The circumstances of the mandate were not the result of this Court's oversight. Rather, it did not address the deduction for oil and gas producing wells in the first appeal because Antero failed to raise any objections to this prorated deduction until remand. As Antero admits, "the focus of [its] argument" on appeal was "the use of an operating expense 'maximum amount' or 'cap,' rather than on the application of a weighting mythology for wells that produce both oil and natural

gas." AR 2097. Administrative Notice 2016-08 has always provided for a prorated deduction for Antero's oil and gas producing wells. AR 2052. But Antero's concerns with this prorated deduction were not raised with the Tax Commissioner until 2018. Petr's Br. at 18. And they were not raised in court until February 20, 2020, when Antero filed its motion for summary judgment on remand. AR 2038. Nor was Antero's delay the result of inadvertence. It was deliberate and strategic. In fact, Antero has acknowledged that a different producer, who was represented by the same counsel, AR 2136-37, AR 2151-52, "initially raised the weighting issue in its appeal" to circuit court, AR 2097 n.3, in March of 2018. AR 2122. Likewise, Antero acknowledges that it chose not to "raise the issue of 'weighting'" because it preferred to pursue a percentage-based method for calculating its operating expense deduction. AR 2097 & nn.2-3.

At the time, Antero cited "mootness" to justify its decision not to raise the "weighting issue" earlier. AR 2097 & n.3. It argued that the prorated deduction for oil and gas production "would have been of little consequence" if it successfully convinced this Court to uphold the 20% deduction previously used by the Business Court. AR 2097 & n.3. But a party asserting mootness has a "heavy burden of persua[sion]." *State ex rel. Bluestone Coal Corp. v. Mazzone*, 226 W. Va. 148, 156, 697 S.E.2d 740, 748 (2010). And Antero has failed to meet that burden here. The prorated deduction for oil and gas wells was always a component of Antero's 2016 assessment. AR 2052. When Antero first protested its assessment at the county level, this deduction was clearly not moot. AR 90-94. Likewise, when it was unsuccessful there, AR 902, and appealed to circuit court, AR 72, the prorated deduction was clearly a live issue that had consequences for its assessment. Even if those consequences were diminished by Antero's initial success at Business Court, AR 68, it has not demonstrated that it had no "legally cognizable interest" in also challenging the prorated deduction on the initial appeal before this Court. *Cf. Mazzone*, 226 W. Va. at 156, 697 S.E.2d at

748. Antero simply chose to "focus [its] arguments" on an issue that—by its own estimation—could have reduced its valuation by over \$225 million, *compare* AR 2196 (original \$812 million assessment) with AR 1759 (Antero's requested \$587 million assessment based on 20% deduction), rather than an issue that could have changed its valuation by \$4 million. *Compare* AR 2202 (revalued \$812 million assessment) with AR 2040 (Antero's requested \$808 million valuation on remand). This focus is understandable, but it plainly demonstrates the strategic nature of Antero's decision.

A. By the time Antero raised its objections to the prorated oil and gas deduction, it was too late because this Court's limited remand "precluded" the Business Court from "considering other issues, or new matter"—like Antero's belated objections—"affecting the cause." *Quicken Loans II*, 236 W. Va. at 20, 777 S.E.2d at 589. A remand may "be either general or limited in scope." Syl. Pt. 2, *Frazier & Oxley*, 214 W. Va. at 805, 591 S.E.2d at 731. But where it is "for a specific act," *Quicken Loans II*, 236 W. Va. at 20, 777 S.E.2d at 589, or "explicitly outline[s] the issues" the circuit court may address, it constitutes a limited remand. Syl. Pt. 2, *Frazier & Oxley*, 214 W. Va. at 805, 591 S.E.2d at 731.

The remand from *Consol Energy* was clearly limited. It directed the Business Court to perform a specific act—namely, "to fix the assessment of" Antero's "property. *Consol Energy*, 242 W.Va. at 225, 832 S.E.2d at 151. And it explicitly outlined the only issue that remained open in this case—specifically, what value should be assigned to Antero's gas producing wells using a monetary-based deduction instead of the 20% deduction the Business Court "erroneously required" previously. *Id.* No additional issues were left open on remand. And in such circumstances, the remand "creates a narrow framework within which the circuit court must operate." Syl. Pt. 2, *Frazier & Oxley*, 214 W. Va. at 805, 591 S.E.2d at 731. The mandate then

prohibits the circuit court from "re-hear[ing] . . . any matter . . . decided" by the appellate court. *Quicken Loans II*, 236 W. Va. at 19, 777 S.E.2d at 588 (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Johnson v. Gould*, 62 W. Va. 599, 59 S.E. 611 (1911)). And it "preclude[s]" the circuit court "from considering *other issues, or new matters* affecting the cause." *Quicken Loans II*, 236 W. Va. at 20, 777 S.E.2d at 589 (emphasis added).

Antero's objection to the prorated oil and gas well deduction is plainly an "other issue[], or new matter[]" that was unaddressed in *Consol Energy*. The mandate prohibited consideration of this belatedly-raised issue.

B. Likewise, Antero has waived consideration of this new issue in this second appeal. It is a "longstanding legal maxim" that the "law aids those who are diligent, not those who sleep upon their rights," and that "silence may operate as a waiver of objections to error and irregularities." *Perrine v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.*, 225 W. Va. 482, 601, 694 S.E.2d 815, 934 (2010) (internal quotations omitted). These principles "prevent[] a party from making a tactical decision to refrain from objecting and subsequently, should the case turn sour, assigning error." *Id.* Waiver is typically invoked at circuit court, but it "has equal force and application at the appellate level." *Id.* It requires "a party to present all known arguments or claims to an appellate court before its decision is rendered." *Id.* at 599, 694 S.E.2d at 932. And "where an argument could have been raised on an initial appeal" and was not, a litigant cannot raise "that argument on a second appeal following remand." *Omni Outdoor Advertising, Inc. v. Columbia Outdoor Advertising, Inc.*, 974 S.2d 502, 505 (4th Cir. 1992).²

² While federal courts consistently conclude that "an appellant" "waive[s] issues" that "it could have raised in its own first appeal," at times, this rule is relaxed for an appellee on a first appeal. See, e.g., Laitram Corp., v. NEC Corp., 115 F.3d 947, 954 (Fed. Cir. 1997). In contrast, this Court has deemed arguments not raised in cross-assignment of error waived. See, e.g., U.S. Exploration, LLC v. Griffin Producing Co., ___ W. Va. ___, 844 S.E.2d 89, 93 n.3 (2020). But here, any difference between the waiver rules for appellants

Antero plainly could have raised its objections to the prorated deduction for oil and gas production before remand. Again, this deduction was explicitly set forth in Administrative Notice 2016-08, which was issued on January 27, 2016. AR 2052. Antero could have objected to this part of its valuation when it protested it original assessment to the Board of Assessment Appeals. AR 90. But it did not. *Id.* Like other producers, it could have objected to this part of its valuation when it originally appealed to circuit court. AR 2136-37, AR 2151-52. But it chose not to do so. And if this argument had not been waived by then, it could have raised a cross-assignment of error on this issue during the first appeal. But instead, it chose to "focus [its] argument" on the Tax Commissioner's "use of an operating expense 'maximum amount' or 'cap," instead of the prorated deduction "for wells that produce both oil and natural gas." AR 2097. In the first appeal, Antero did not convince this Court that "leaving the residual [20%] percentage operating expense deduction" was appropriate. Consol Energy, 242 W. Va. at 224, 832 S.E.2d at 150. It cannot now "return to [this Court] to advance different, previously available theories." Omni Outdoor Advertising, 974 F.2d at 505. Its objections to the prorated deduction for oil and gas production have been waived.

C. Even if Antero had not waived its objection to the prorated oil and gas deduction, its arguments are without merit. The legislative rule plainly provides for the valuation of oil and gas producing wells. W. Va. Code R. § 110-1J-4.1 (referencing "oil and/or natural gas producing property"). And it directs the Tax Commissioner to "determine the average annual industry operating expense[]" deduction for such wells. W. Va. Code R. § 110-1J-4.3. Consistent with Consol Energy, the Tax Commissioner utilizes the \$5,750 monetary deduction for oil wells and the \$150,000 monetary deduction for gas wells in his determination of the deduction applicable to

and appellees is immaterial because Antero was the initial appellant at Business Court, AR 72, 1636, it could have raised an objection to the prorated oil and gas deduction at that time, and it failed to do so.

wells that produce both oil and gas. *Cf.* Syl. Pt. 12, *Consol Energy*, 242 W. Va. at 213, 832 S.E.2d at 137. And he applies each monetary deduction based on the percentage of oil or gas each well produces. As the Business Court concluded, the prorated deduction "reasonabl[y]," "equitably" and "fair[ly]" applies the monetary average deductions for oil and gas to wells that produce both. AR. 2201-02. The prorated deduction is based on a reasonable construction of the Tax Commissioner's legislative rules and is not arbitrary or capricious. It is entitled to deference. *Cf. Consol Energy*, 242 W. Va. at 223, 832 S.E.2d at 149.

II. ANTERO'S REMAINING ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR ARE EITHER NOT ON THE RECORD, BARRED BY THE LAW OF THE CASE, OR WAIVED.

Antero's remaining four assignments of error suffer from similar defects. In Assignments of Error 2 and 3, it argues that the *June 2020 Notice*, must be applied retroactively and that the Tax Commissioner's failure to do so is arbitrary and capricious and in violation of the APA and due process. Petr's Br. at 1. In Assignments of Error 4 and 5, it contends that the Tax Commissioner's exclusion of post-production expenses from the average annual industry operating expense deduction violated state and federal due process principles as well as dormant Commerce Clause principles. Petr's Br. at 1. But each of these assignments of error should be rejected because they are either not on the record on appeal, barred by the law of the case, or waived. Each assignment of error is also facially flawed.

a. Antero's remaining assignments of error are not on the record from which the appeal has been taken.

Assignments of Error 2, 3, 4, and 5 should not be considered in this appeal because they were not addressed in the Business Court's June 15, 2020, Order and they do not fairly arise from the record on appeal. This Court has already rejected Antero's *Supplemental Appendix* which contained "documents that were not part of the record before the circuit court at the time of entry

of the appealable order." *Corrected Order*, No 20-0530 (Jan. 28, 2021). It should likewise reject Antero's remaining assignments of error.

This Court has consistently held that it "will not decide nonjurisdictional questions which were not considered and decided by the court from which the appeal has been taken." Syl. Pt. 7, In re Michael Ray T., 206 W. Va. 434, 436, 525 S.E.2d 315, 317 (1999). It also has limited authority "to resolve assignments of nonjurisdictional error" that do not "fairly aris[e] upon the portions of the record designated for appellate review." Id. at 444, 525 S.E.2d at 325. These rules are "rooted in the concept of judicial economy, fairness, expediency, respect, and practical wisdom." State v. Greene, 196 W. Va. 500, 505, 473 S.E.2d 921, 926 (1996) (Cleckley, J., concurring). They ensure that "the facts underlying" each issue have been properly developed "so that a disposition can be made on appeal." Whitlow v. Bd. of Ed. of Kanawha Cnty., 190 W. Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 18 (1993). These rules also provide this Court "the benefit of" the circuit court's "wisdom." Id.

None of Antero's remaining assignments of error were "considered [or] decided" in the order Antero appealed. The order on appeal was entered by the Business Court on June 15, 2020. AR 2204. After appealing this order, Antero filed motions at the Business Court for relief under Rule 60(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure and for a preliminary injunction. Petr's Br. at 11. Then in its *Petitioner's Brief*, it included four assignments of error related to those subsequent motions. Obviously, none of these assignments of error were addressed in the Business Court's June 15, 2020, order. AR 2195-2204. They should not be decided here. Syl. Pt. 7, *In re Michael Ray T.*, 206 W. Va. at 436, 525 S.E.2d at 317. Antero's attempt to raise these issues for the first time on appeal would deprive this Court of the "the benefit" of the Business Court's

"refine[ment], develop[ment], . . . adjudicat[ion]," and "wisdom." *Cf. Whitlow*, 190 W. Va. at 226, 438 S.E.2d at 18. These assignments of error should be rejected.

True, Antero Assignments of Error 3, 4, and 5, include constitutional claims. Petr's Br. at 1. And this Court, at times, exercises its "discretion" to address a "constitutional issue that was not properly preserved at the trial court level" if the issue "is the controlling issue in the resolution of the case." Syl. Pt. 2, Louk v. Cormier, 218 W. Va. 81, 84, 622 S.E.2d 788, 791 (2005); but see Duquesne Light Co. v. State Tax Dep't., 174 W. Va. 506, 511, 327 S.E.2d 688, 689 (1984) ("declin[ing] to address" equal protection and equal and uniform claims "because they were not passed upon by the circuit court."); Gomez v. State Athletic Comm'n, No. 16-0103, 2016 WL 5348350, *2 (Sept. 23, 2016) (memorandum decision) (finding "no justification" to address constitutional claims raised for the first time on appeal where a litigant had the option "to refile his action" and properly raise such claims). But Antero's constitutional claims do not fall within "the narrow context in which this Court" exercises this discretion.³

First, the exercise of this discretion may be appropriate where a litigant raises a new constitutional claim in its first appeal. See, e.g., Louk, 218 W. Va. at 86, 622 S.E.2d 788, 791 (2005). But Antero is here on a second appeal following remand. And in this second appeal, the law of the case and waiver rules both preclude considerations of everything "decided by necessary implication," Frazier & Oxley, 214 W. Va. at 808 n.8, 591 S.E.2d at 734 n. 8 (quoting Laitram Corp., 115 F.3d at 951)), and any issue that could have been raised on the first appeal. Cf. Omni Outdoor, 974 F.2d at 505 ("It would be absurd that a party who has chosen not to argue a point on a first appeal should stand better as regards the law of the case than one who has argued and lost."

³ And of course, this narrow exception has no application to Assignment of Error 2 and the APA-based portions of Assignment of Error 3 because these claims are statutory and not "constitutional in nature." *Wang-Yu Lin v. Shin Yi Lin*, 224 W. Va. 620, 624, 687 S.E.2d 403, 408 (2009).

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